Filed 09-30-2022

FILED 09-30-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

## IN SUPREME COURT

#### Case No. 2020AP000226-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

JEFFREY L. HINEMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeals, Reversing a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Racine County Circuit Court, the Honorable Mark F. Nielsen, Presiding.

> BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > FRANCES REYNOLDS COLBERT Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1050435

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8374 colbertf@opd.wi.gov

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

The State wrongfully withheld the document – a CPS report dated March 12, 2015 – that triggered the investigation into Mr. Hineman's alleged criminal conduct and culminated in his conviction of sexual assault of a child. At trial, the investigating officer testified about its contents – falsely. Defense counsel was unable to impeach the officer's testimony because she had never seen the report.

1. The State concedes that the CPS report was wrongfully withheld. The question for this Court is whether the wrongfully withheld document was material and prejudicial to Mr. Hineman's defense.

The circuit court answered no. The court of appeals reversed, holding that the State violated *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), because there is a reasonable probability that "had the March 12 report been turned over to Hineman prior to trial, the outcome of the trial would have been different."

- 2. Was Mr. Hineman denied effective assistance of counsel when trial counsel:
  - a) failed to obtain the CPS report before trial;
  - b) failed to make an opening statement;
  - c) failed to object to improper expert testimony; and

d) conceded guilt during closing arguments.

The circuit court answered no. The court of appeals did not reach this question because it granted relief based on the *Brady* violation.

 Is Mr. Hineman entitled to relief, including an in camera review of treatment records under Shiffra/Green,<sup>1</sup> in the interests of justice?

The circuit court answered no. The court of appeals held that before Mr. Hineman faces a new trial, he is entitled to an *in camera* review of the alleged victim's treatment records so that the circuit court can determine whether any of the records are material to the defense.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument has been scheduled and publication is customary for this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Shiffra, 175 Wis. 2d 600, 605, 499 N.W.2d 719 (Ct. App. 1993); State v. Green, 2002 WI 68, ¶34, 253 Wis. 2d 356, 646 N.W.2d 298

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Child sexual assault is among the most serious crimes and carries among the most significant penalties. Yet, trials involving child sexual assault charges often turn on credibility contests; a suspect can spend decades in prison on the word of a young child and nothing more. To ensure that convictions for such a grave and harshly punished offense are reliable, the Constitution and statutes governing discovery and evidence protect the interests of the accused – and the public – by requiring a complete investigation and a fair trial. Neither occurred here.

In this case, the State withheld a favorable child protective services report. The CPS report reveals that a therapist suspected Mr. Hineman of sexually abusing 6-year-old SJS not because SJS disclosed any inappropriate touching but because he had behavior problems. Despite the fact that no inappropriate touching was alleged, authorities were informed about these suspicions and the family cut off all contact with Mr. Hineman. These suspicions brewed for five months before SJS finally, during a belated forensic interview, made a statement that Mr. Hineman had touched him inappropriately.

Because defense counsel was unaware that it was a therapist who triggered the criminal investigation, she never investigated the therapist's concerns or attempted to get her records. As a result, Mr. Hineman went to trial without knowing how he'd become a suspect, without knowing who initially reported him to authorities, and without knowing how many times SJS was questioned about Mr. Hineman inappropriately touching him before he disclosed such touching.

At trial, the investigating officer testified falsely that the CPS report contained a statement that SJS had alleged that he had been touched by Mr. Hineman. Because the CPS report was withheld, defense counsel was unable to impeach this inaccurate testimony.

In addition, defense counsel made multiple, constitutionally significant errors both before and during trial. She: failed to obtain the CPS report; failed to make an opening statement to the jury; and failed to object to improper expert testimony elicited by the State at trial. Perhaps most shocking, defense counsel conceded Mr. Hineman's guilt in her closing argument.

The State's refusal to grant the defense access to the CPS report, combined with defense counsel's ineffective representation, deprived Mr. Hineman of a number of important constitutional rights. The court of appeals correctly determined that Mr. Hineman, who has fervently maintained his innocence, is thus entitled to a new trial—one in which he has full access to the evidence against him and the effective representation necessary to challenge it.

Filed 09-30-2022

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## ~Background~

Mr. Hineman was a family friend of the S. family and a father figure to six-year-old SJS. Mr. Hineman was romantically involved with SJS's mother when SJS was born, and cared for him until his mother moved out-of-state when SJS was 14 months old. (78:61-62,129-130). A few years later, SJS returned to Wisconsin, to the custody of his biological father, Frank S.<sup>2</sup> (78:62). Shortly after that, Mr. Hineman reached out to SJS's paternal grandmother, Mary S.,<sup>3</sup> and reestablished contact with SJS. (78:62, 132).

Mr. Hineman loved SJS and considered him a stepson. (78:137, 147). He bought him gifts, took him places, and cared for him. (78:63, 137-138). Grandma explained that Mr. Hineman was "very, very nice to [SJS], to the family. We were glad he was back in [SJS's] life." (78:62-63). Mr. Hineman was even the primary caregiver for SJS during a two-week period in the fall of 2014, when Dad was in the hospital. (78:63-64). In the spring of 2015, however, the family abruptly cut off all contact with Mr. Hineman. (78:66). Mr. Hineman had no idea why. (78:137-138).

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  For ease of reading and to avoid confusion of multiple individuals with the same surname, this brief will refer to Frank S. simply as Dad.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For ease of reading and to avoid confusion of multiple individuals with the same surname, this brief will refer to Mary S. simply as Grandma.

Unbeknownst to Mr. Hineman, SJS's private therapist had developed a concern that SJS was being sexually abused because he had been exhibiting behavior problems and was overheard making a reference to the pleasures of oral sex at school. (48:3; Pet-App. 51). On March 12, 2015, the therapist reported her concerns to CPS. (48:4; Pet-App. 52). The CPS report cites a series of conversations between the therapist and Dad, SJS's school, and SJS in which the therapist concludes that Mr. Hineman was the source of SJS's knowledge about oral sex and the CPS report identifies Mr. Hineman as the "alleged maltreater." (48:2-3; Pet-App. 52-53). The details of the therapist's conversations with each of these people, however, are not provided in the report and are still unknown. (48:3-4; Pet-App. 53-54).

Three months after the report was created, it was faxed to the Racine County Sherriff's Office. Officer Tracy Hintz then began a criminal investigation into Mr. Hineman's alleged sexual abuse of SJS. (41:29-31, Pet-App. 47-48).

On August 5, 2015, five months after Mr. Hineman was identified as the alleged maltreater and two months after the CPS report was faxed over to law enforcement, SJS participated in a child advocacy center (CAC) forensic interview where, for the first time, he disclosed that Mr. Hineman touched him inappropriately. (86). During the interview, SJS was inconsistent in his statements and did not provide a linear narrative about what happened or when. For example, SJS described an instance in which

Mr. Hineman touched his private parts over his clothing while they were on the couch, and then Mr. Hineman laughed. (86 at 10:07:25-52).<sup>4</sup> SJS stated it had happened four times, but then stated it had happened six times. (86 at 10:25:08; 10:11:15). When asked to talk about details of one of the other times. SJS said simply, "That was all." (86 at 10:12:20). It was never clarified if SJS was alleging more than one incident. (86 at 10:26:28). When specifically asked if the touching happened around the two-week period in which Mr. Hineman stayed with him, SJS said he did not remember. (86 at 10:27:00). There was, however, one consistent remark: SJS repeatedly reported that after Mr. Hineman touched him, he immediately told his parents, who were at home, and Mr. Hineman was then thrown out of the house. (86 at 10:15:56 10:26:49 10:07:49 10:08:08 10:10:23).

The day after the CAC interview, Mr. Hineman was charged with one count of first-degree sexual assault of a child under the age of 13. (1).

## ~The trial~

A trial was held on May 9-11, 2017. The State called four witnesses, but little evidence was presented about how the alleged sexual assault actually happened. As noted by the circuit court, the trial "was a contest of credibility in many ways. [Mr. Hineman]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A transcription of the CAC video was not prepared for trial, however Mr. Hineman had one prepared postconviction. *See* Exhibits 2 and 3 to the postconviction motion. (41:32-64).

against the child.... [T]he verdict could have gone either way." (80:24).

The trial began, as trials usually do, with the State's opening statement previewing the evidence it believed would show Mr. Hineman's guilt. (78:16-18). When it was defense counsel's turn, she opted not to give an opening statement. (78:18).

Testimony began with forensic interviewer, Heather Jensen, who discussed her background and and the techniques she used training when interviewing SJS at the child advocacy center. (78:19-40). Although not noticed as an expert, she also testified about research on the implications of "piecemeal" and "delayed disclosure" and why children disclose right do not away. (78:27-31; Res-App. 3-7). There was no objection to this expert testimony by a lay witness. The jury then watched a video recording of the full CAC interview.

After the CAC interview was played for the jury, nine-year-old SJS testified about the assault that had allegedly occurred two-and-one-half years prior. SJS's trial testimony, like the information he provided during his forensic interview, lacked details. Six times SJS answered the question about what happened with Mr. Hineman with "I don't remember." (78:47-50). But he eventually testified that the inappropriate touching happened one time, on one specific day: Mr. Hineman touched SJS's penis the day after Halloween in the fall of 2014. (78:49, 53). SJS then reiterated his prior CAC

Filed 09-30-2022

interview statements that after it happened, he told his dad and grandmother. (78:55).

Grandma then testified, primarily about the family's relationship with Mr. Hineman, her son's illness in the fall of 2014, and SJS's behavior problems. (78:62-67). Grandma did not witness or have any personal knowledge of an assault, and she confirmed that SJS never told her (or, to her knowledge, Dad) about any alleged assault. (78:67).

Next, the jury heard from Officer Hintz, who testified about her significant training and experience investigating child sexual assaults, and then about her interview with Mr. Hineman. (78:92-102). Hintz explained Mr. Hineman's behavior was concerning to her because he was buying gifts for SJS and doing things for the family, which "in the totality of everything" was "described as grooming." (78:94-95, 91, 92). When the prosecutor began asking the officer about where she learned about the "concept of grooming," defense counsel objected because the prosecutor was eliciting expert testimony, Officer Hintz had not been noticed as an expert, and the police reports had not said anything about grooming. (78:92). The objection was sustained. (78:92).

Officer Hintz also testified that she believed the CPS report said SJS had reported that Mr. Hineman had touched him inappropriately. (78:107-09; Res-App. 8-10). The CPS report contains no such statement. (48:2-7; Pet-App. 50-55). This testimony was not impeached.

Last, Mr. Hineman testified. Mr. Hineman discussed his relationship with the family and SJS. Mr. Hineman unequivocally stated that he never touched SJS inappropriately. (78:140).

Despite Mr. Hineman's testimony, defense counsel's closing argument included the following: "...I believe the sexual assault happened. It happened the day after trick-or-treating. It happened when his dad wasn't there. It would have had to happen when he was watching SJS during those two weeks." (Res-App. 13).

Mr. Hineman was convicted and sentenced to 25 years of imprisonment.

#### ~Postconviction litigation~

Mr. Hineman brought postconviction motions seeking postconviction discovery and alleging a multitude of constitutional violations. (40, 41, 42, 55). The circuit court granted the postconviction discovery motion and ordered the county department of health services to provide Mr. Hineman with the original March 12 CPS report as well as two other related CPS reports. (47, 62; Pet-App. 12-24).

The original report and the two related reports from April 20, 2015 and May 29, 2015 contain information that was unknown to the defense before trial. The original report confirms that SJS had made no disclosure of inappropriate touching prior to law enforcement's involvement and reveals that it was a therapist who reported Mr. Hineman's suspected abuse to authorities. (48:8-12; Pet-App. 56-60). The April 20 report reveals that a month after the family cut off contact with Mr. Hineman, they took SJS to be examined by a physician; the physician detected no physical signs of abuse. (48:10; Pet-App. 58). The April 20 report also states that the family thought SJS was being sexually abused by an "autistic son." (48:10; Pet-App. 58). The May 29 report reveals that SJS's therapist, school counselors, teachers, parents, and grandparents (*i.e.* all the adults in SJS's life) believed Mr. Hineman had been sexually abusing SJS long before SJS made any such disclosure. (48:13-17; Pet-

App. 17).

Despite the discovery of this new information postconviction, the circuit court denied Mr. Hineman's motion for postconviction relief. Mr. Hineman appealed.

The court of appeals held that the State violated Mr. Hineman's due process rights under *Brady* v. *Maryland* when it failed to provide the defense with the CPS report, and it granted Mr. Hineman a new trial. The court concluded that the CPS report was material because, without it, the defense was unable to impeach Officer Hintz's false testimony that the CPS report contained an allegation of inappropriate touching. *State v. Hineman*, unpublished *per curium* slip op. ¶¶39-40 (Nov. 24, 2021) (Pet-App. 3-11). The court also held that upon remand for a new trial, Mr. Hineman would be entitled to an *in camera* review of SJS's therapist's records "related to her report to CPS on March 12." *Hineman*, ¶52.

Page 19 of 56

Other details about the investigation, the trial, and the postconviction and appellate litigation will be provided below.

#### ARGUMENT

I. The State's Failure to Turn Over the CPS Report Violated Mr. Hineman's Due Process Rights and *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

parties agree on the legal standard The governing *Brady* challenges: "suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." Brady, 373 U.S. at 87. The parties also agree that Mr. Hineman has met his burden to establish the first two prongs necessary to establish a *Brady* violation – that the CPS report was "favorable to the accused either because it is exculpatory or because it is impeaching" and that it was "suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently." State v. Wayerski, 2019 WI 11, ¶35, 385 Wis. 2d 344, 922 N.W.2d 468 (citations omitted). The State does not agree, however, that Mr. Hineman has established the third prong – that the wrongfully suppressed evidence was "material."

The State questions how, or even whether, an appellate court should review *Brady* challenges in sexual assault cases that do not involve any physical

evidence, confessions, third-party eye-witnesses accounts, or other corroboration of the alleged crime – *i.e.*, close cases. The State appears to argue that in cases in which guilt or innocence depends entirely on credibility determinations, appellate courts should abandon the traditional *Brady* materiality standard – binding federal precedent for the last 50 years – in favor of a more deferential standard in which evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the State and verdicts are upheld whenever the record contains a modicum of evidence to support the conviction. This is not the law, nor should it be.

Acquitting the guilty is detestable but so too is condemning the innocent. The criminal justice system, including the appellate process, is designed to protect against either unsavory outcome. Appellate courts are not privy to jury deliberations and the system of appellate review is necessarily limited to "cold transcripts" and court records. (State's Br. at 30). When a constitutional due process violation is alleged, as it is here, this Court is required to perform a *de novo* review based on the paper record before it. See State v. Rockette, 2006 WI App 103, ¶39, 294 Wis. 2d 611, 718 N.W.2d 269 (appellate courts independently apply the constitutional standard to the undisputed facts of the case). For the reasons set forth below, this Court, like the court of appeals, should apply the constitutional standard to the record before it and hold that the CPS report was material and the State's failure to turn it over violated Mr. Hineman's due process right to a fair trial.

## A. Materiality

Evidence is material under *Brady* when there is a "reasonable probability that had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *State v. Harris,* 2004 WI 64, ¶14, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737 (quoting *United States v. Bagley,* 473 U.S. 667, 676 (1985)). This is the same as the prejudice test articulated in *Strickland v. Washington,* 466 U.S. 668 (1984), in ineffective assistance of counsel claims. *Id.* 

Material evidence includes evidence affecting witness credibility when the reliability of the witness in question is likely determinative of guilt or innocence. *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 154, (1972); *see also Harris*, 272 Wis. 2d 80, ¶31 ("[i]mpeachment evidence casting doubt on a witness's credibility is material and subject to disclosure").

A prejudice or materiality inquiry must "consider the totality of the evidence before ... the jury. A verdict ... that is overwhelmingly supported by the record is less likely to have been affected by errors than one that is only weakly supported by the record." *Hough v. Anderson*, 272 F.3d 878, 891 (7th Cir. 2001) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 696). Thus, the issue here is not whether the defendant is innocent, but instead whether he would have had a "reasonable chance" of acquittal absent the errors in his trial. Stanley v. Bartley, 465 F.3d 810, 814 (7th Cir. 2006) (noting that "it needn't be a 50 percent or greater chance").

The CPS report was material exculpatory impeachment evidence that went to an issue at the heart of the case - when and how SJS disclosed that Mr. Hineman had sexually assaulted him, and what the circumstances of the disclosure indicated about its reliability. Had the State turned over the report, the defense could have used it to impeach Officer Hintz's materially false and prejudicial testimony that the initial CPS report contained an allegation that Mr. Hineman had assaulted SJS – undermining both Officer Hintz's and SJS's credibility. Moreover, the defense would have gained access to important information that would have altered its trial strategy. In a case that "could have gone either way," there is a reasonable probability that providing the CPS report to the defense in advance of trial as the law requires would have produced a different outcome. (80:24).

B. Officer Hintz provided materially false testimony and the defense was unable to impeach it.

The government may not knowingly use false testimony to obtain a conviction. "The knowing use of false testimony to obtain a conviction violates due process regardless of whether the prosecutor solicited the false testimony or merely allowed it to go uncorrected when it appeared." *Bagley*, 473 U.S. at 676 n. 8, (*quoting Napue v. Illinois*, 360 U.S.

22

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