FILED
11-30-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2020AP226-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY L. HINEMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE MARK F. NIELSEN, PRESIDING

AMENDED BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Hineman fails to establish a reasonable probability of a different outcome had counsel received the CPS report pretrial.

Hineman alleges a *Brady* violation based on the State's failure to produce the March CPS report. Recall that CPS sent the report to the Sheriff's Department in June 2015, which prompted Investigator Hintz to talk to Grandma and Dad in July, which prompted the August CAC interview in which S.S. disclosed that Hineman had touched him, which prompted the police interview of Hineman and the criminal charge.

The Sheriff's Office did not supply that CPS report to the prosecution; thus, the prosecution did not provide the CPS report to Hineman. Hineman's trial counsel, Aileen Henry, did not file a motion to compel production of the report.

As discussed below, Hineman cannot succeed on his *Brady* claim based on the prosecutor's nondisclosure because the absence of the report was not material for *Brady* purposes and thus did not prejudice Hineman.

A. Due process and *Brady* require the State to turn over favorable and material evidence to the defendant.

Under the Fourteenth Amendment, "suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). A *Brady* challenge requires the defendant to establish three things: (1) evidence must be "favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory or impeaching," (2) it "must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or inadvertently," and (3) "prejudice must have ensued," that is,

Case 2020AP000226 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-30-2020 Page 17 of 46

it "must be material" to the defendant's guilt or punishment. Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 282 (1999); Wayerski, 385 Wis. 2d 344, \P 35.

The third prong, materiality, is the focus here. Evidence is material for Brady purposes "only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A 'reasonable probability' is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." $State\ v.\ Garrity$, 161 Wis. 2d 842, 850, 469 N.W.2d 219 (Ct. App. 1991) (quoting $United\ States\ v.\ Bagley$, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985)). The test for materiality is the same as the test for prejudice in $Strickland\ v.\ Washington$, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Wayerski, 385 Wis. 2d 344, ¶ 36.

"Impeachment evidence is *not* material, and thus a new trial is *not* required 'when the suppressed impeachment evidence merely furnishes an additional basis on which to impeach a witness whose credibility has already been shown to be questionable." *State v. Rockette*, 2006 WI App 103, ¶ 41, 294 Wis. 2d 611, 718 N.W.2d 269 (citation omitted). "Generally, where impeachment evidence is merely cumulative and thereby has no reasonable probability of affecting the result of trial, it does not violate the *Brady* requirement." *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Dweck*, 913 F.2d 365, 371 (7th Cir. 1990)).

B. Hineman cannot show that prejudice ensued from the nondisclosure of the CPS report.

The State agrees that Hineman satisfied the first two prongs of the *Brady* analysis. The CPS report was what prompted the police to get involved. It indicated what, if any, allegations involving Hineman existed as of March 2015—which was that S.S. simulated oral sex on a pen and told his Dad that he learned about it from Hineman. And it provided

Case 2020AP000226 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-30-2020 Page 18 of 46

some information regarding S.S.'s diagnoses, family life, and his other concerning behaviors.

To that end, the report was not "exculpatory." It reflected highly inculpatory information: that six-year-old S.S. simulated oral sex on a pen, commented that having one's privates sucked felt good, and attributed learning it from Hineman. While not an express claim of touching like S.S.'s CAC disclosure, it was inculpatory. It indicates that Hineman—at a minimum—talked to a six-year-old about oral sex. And a reasonable factfinder could infer that Hineman did more than tell S.S. about oral sex because a six-year-old child was unlikely to do those things based just on talk.

Nevertheless, the CPSreport had potential impeachment value—and was thus favorable for Brady purposes—because it contained a statement of different behavior by Hineman than what S.S. disclosed in August. Because of that potential impeachment value and because law enforcement possessed the CPS report, it should have been provided to defense counsel. See Wis. Stat. § 971.23(1)(e); State v. DeLao, 2002 WI 49, ¶ 24, 252 Wis. 2d 289, 643 N.W.2d 480. While the CPS report is generally confidential by statute, the material in the report—other than the identity of the reporter, Wis. Stat. § 48.981(7)(a)1.1—is not confidential to Hineman.

Hineman, however, cannot satisfy the materiality prong of *Brady*. He asserts that Hintz falsely testified that she believed that the March CPS report contained a disclosure, a statement that counsel could not adequately impeach without the report. He argues that with the report, the impeachment "would have suggested to [the jury] that the investigation was in some way tainted." (Hineman's Br. 18.)

¹ That identity of the mandatory reporter would not remain confidential if the State intended to call them as a witness. Here, the mandatory reporter did not testify.

Case 2020AP000226 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-30-2020 Page 19 of 46

In his view, the jury was left to believe that S.S. had disclosed touching by Hineman five months before the CAC interview, which Hineman thinks made S.S.'s CAC disclosure and trial testimony about touching more reliable. (Hineman's Br. 18–19.)

Hineman fails his burden of demonstrating prejudice for four reasons. First, the police report that the State provided to Hineman contained all the relevant information from the CPS report that counsel needed to challenge Hintz's testimony. Second, if Hintz's equivocal testimony was impeachable, counsel adequately challenged it using Hintz's police report. Third, it is not reasonably probable that any further inquiry of Hintz regarding the content of the CPS report would have produced a different verdict. And fourth, that this case turned on credibility did not weaken the State's case or lessen Hineman's burden to prove prejudice.

1. Hintz's police report reproduced the relevant information from the CPS report.

Hintz's July 2015 police report (R. 41:29-31) reproduced the following information from the March CPS report: S.S., age six, had been "sucking on a pen at school and told a classmate that it feels good to have your privates sucked on." (R. 41:30.) According to the original reporter, S.S. said that he learned those things from a "Garfield" book or movie. (R. 41:30.) The reporter spoke to Dad, who said that S.S. had told him that he learned that information from Hineman. (R. 41:30.) Hintz then wrote of the CPS report, "No specific information was given on if [Hineman] touched [S.S.] or forced [S.S.] to touch [Hineman]." (R. 41:30.)

Hintz also relayed information from the CPS report detailing some concerning behavior S.S. was exhibiting at home and school, including some regressive toileting issues and S.S.'s telling his father "that mean guys were going to Case 2020AP000226 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-30-2020 Page 20 of 46

hurt him." (R. 41:30.) Hintz also relayed from the CPS report S.S.'s diagnoses of anxiety and ADHD and his issues with anger management. (R. 41:30.)

That was an accurate reproduction of the information from the CPS report that Hineman believes counsel needed to properly challenge Hintz's testimony. A review of the CPS report likewise reflects (1) the pen incident; (2) the fact that S.S. first implicated Garfield but later said that he learned it from Hineman; (3) S.S.'s other concerning behavior; and (4) the fact that there were no express allegations of sexual touching or contact. (R. 48:2–7.)

Given those parallels, the postconviction court soundly found that the July police report, which Hineman had received, provided all of the relevant and material information from the March CPS report that was of use to Hineman. (R. 62:6.) That finding has support from the record, it is not clearly erroneous, and it supports the conclusion that the absence of the CPS report was not material.

2. If Hintz's equivocal testimony was impeachable, counsel adequately challenged it.

Hineman writes that Hintz's "unequivocal" testimony that she believed that the CPS report "does state that he later says that" was a "blatant misstatement of fact" because "[t]he March 12 report contained no statement that [S.S.] had been touched by Hineman." (Hineman's Br. 16.) Hineman argues that counsel's attempt to impeach Hintz with her report failed because counsel could not disprove Hintz's belief that the CPS report contained a disclosure. (Hineman's Br. 16–17.)

To start, Hintz made clear that she couldn't remember what the March CPS report said. (R. 78:107–08.) She prefaced any statement about what was in the CPS report with the equivocal "I believe." (R. 78:107–08.) Hintz's only unequivocal statement with regard to the timing of S.S.'s disclosure was

Case 2020AP000226 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-30-2020 Page 21 of 46

that the August CAC interview was the first time she heard S.S. disclose that Hineman had touched him. (R. 78:107.) As for whether that was the first time S.S. ever disclosed touching, Hintz "didn't know." (R. 78:107.) In addition, Hintz also agreed that, according to her report, no one as of July had stated that S.S. had claimed touching. (R. 78:106–07.) Those were all accurate statements reflecting Hintz's personal knowledge or lack thereof. They were not "blatant misstatement[s] of fact." (Hineman's Br. 16–17.)

And counsel deftly cross-examined Hintz on those points. Again, Hintz's stated belief that the CPS report contained a disclosure was accurate: S.S. had disclosed to Dad that Hineman told him that it feels good to have one's privates sucked. As the postconviction court noted (R. 62:7), Hintz clearly was confusing that inculpatory disclosure with S.S.'s CAC disclosure that Hineman had touched S.S.'s privates with his hand.

Counsel's questioning reflects that she also understood that Hintz was confusing those disclosures. Counsel allowed Hintz to look at her report from July 2015; brought out that the report contained no disclosure that Hineman touched S.S.; highlighted that neither Dad nor Grandma disclosed any touching; brought out the bare details of the pen incident and the fact that S.S. attributed it to Garfield; and elicited acknowledgements from Hintz that if the CPS report had contained an allegation of touching, that allegation likely would have been reflected in her police report. (R. 78:104–08.)

That was the best-case scenario counsel could have achieved, even if she'd had the CPS report. See Rockette, 294 Wis. 2d 611, ¶ 41 (stating that impeachment evidence is not material when it supplies an additional or cumulative basis to challenge an already-impeached witness). Had counsel presented Hintz with the CPS report and pressed her to confirm that it did not contain a disclosure of touching, it would have allowed Hintz to explain that she had confused

Case 2020AP000226 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-30-2020 Page 22 of 46

S.S.'s initial disclosure that Hineman had told him about oral sex with S.S.'s later disclosure that Hineman had touched his privates. Counsel wisely avoided that path. (R. 62:7.)

3. The totality of the evidence demonstrates that the error was immaterial.

Here, the jury watched a video of S.S., then age seven, disclose that "Uncle Jeff," a person he liked because he bought him toys, also multiple times touched S.S.'s penis over his clothes while on a couch in S.S.'s home. At trial, that same child, then nine, testified that Hineman touched his penis over his clothes while they were on a couch in S.S.'s home. The jury also heard testimony from and about Hineman, who denied the allegations but who demonstrably fudged relatively innocuous and easily confirmable facts. The jury had ample opportunities to observe and weigh S.S.'s and Hineman's demeanor, tone, body language, and delivery. Both Hineman's and S.S.'s credibility were fully before the jury.

Whether there was a disclosure of touching in the CPS report was not an important point at trial. Hineman was charged based on S.S.'s August disclosure. And to that end, S.S.'s August disclosure differed in some respects from his trial testimony. So even if the jury believed that S.S. had disclosed touching in March—despite its hearing that police did not become involved until June and that as of July no one had alerted the police that S.S. had alleged touching (R. 78:107)—it learned no details of that alleged March disclosure that it could have compared to the details in the August disclosure and his trial testimony.

Hineman points to a juror question asking "how/when/who" reported to CPS to suggest that the jury thought that the content of the March CPS report was important. (Hineman's Br. 17.) But that one juror may have been curious about the report and sought guidance does not

Case 2020AP000226 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-30-2020 Page 23 of 46

mean that the whole jury considered the issue important. Even if it did, or it found the testimony regarding the CPS report confusing, it did not likely resolve its quandary in the State's favor. The court instructed the jury that, to convict, it must find Hineman's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. (R. 79:6–8.) If the evidence was unclear who reported to CPS or whether its March report contained a disclosure of touching, the jury was required by those instructions to discount it. *See State v. Miller*, 2012 WI App 68, ¶ 22 n.3, 341 Wis. 2d 737, 816 N.W.2d 331 (juries presumptively follow their instructions).

In all events, Hineman does not explain how answers to that question—i.e., that a mandatory-reporter therapist contacted CPS based in part on learning that S.S. simulated fellatio and said that he learned about it from Hineman—would have helped his defense.

He also asserts that impeachment with the March CPS report "would have raised questions as to the integrity of the investigation" and "would have suggested to [the jury] that the investigation was in some way tainted" because Hintz here "either knowingly fabricated this testimony or she was suffering from tunnel vision." (Hineman's Br. 18.)

It is unreasonable to suggest, without support, that a police investigator would perjure herself and jeopardize a child sexual assault prosecution on a confirmable and nonessential fact. Further, Hineman does not explain his tainted-investigation theory. Even with Hineman's name appearing in the CPS report, there's no evidence that police homed in on Hineman as a suspect before August, after S.S. disclosed Hineman's touching. If Hineman is suggesting that police should have been investigating more people, there is no credible evidence that someone else touched S.S. Even if there was, it would not mean that Hineman did not touch S.S.

Case 2020AP000226 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-30-2020 Page 24 of 46

4. The prejudice standard does not shift when a case is about credibility, and State's evidence was not "slim."

As a final point, the State disagrees with Hineman's running theme that the alleged errors under *Brady* and *Strickland* were prejudicial because the State's evidence was "slim" and because the circuit court commented at sentencing the verdict "could have gone either way." (Hineman's Br. 11–12, 19, 33.) Hineman implies that even minimal errors are constitutionally prejudicial where the case's core issue is credibility. The State disagrees with that implication and Hineman's characterization of the State's case as weak.

The test for materiality under *Brady* and prejudice under *Strickland* both require the defendant to show that but for the complained-of error, there was a reasonable probability of a different outcome at trial. Reviewing courts presume that counsel provides reasonable representation and apply "a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690–91. Likewise, there is a "general presumption of regularity and propriety" applied to the prosecutor's discharge of their *Brady*-mandated duties. *See State ex rel. Lynch v. County Court*, 82 Wis. 2d 454, 467–68, 262 N.W.2d 773 (1978).

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